IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COPY NO. 2007-KA-01985-COA

KEEHAN ANDRE HOYE

FILED

MAY 2 0 2008

APPELLANT

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

Appeal from Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr. Attorney at Law P. O. Box 178 Newton, MS 39345 Telephone 601-683-3387 Facsimile 601-683-3110 MS Bar No.

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Oral Argument Not Requested.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-01985-COA

KEEHAN ANDRE HOYE

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Court erred in overruling Appellant's objection to admissibility of the videotape.
 - 2. The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.
- 3. The Court erred in denying Appellant a motion for a directed verdict, request for a peremptory instruction and motion for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Keehan Andre Hoye appeals his conviction from the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi of selling and delivering of Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics confidential informant, a Schedule II controlled substance, cocaine and was sentenced to 30 years confinement in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Pertinent facts will be referred to in the argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. Admissibility of duplicates under MRE 1003 instead of originals does not extend to duplicates of combinations of originals because no original has been duplicated.
- 2. Failure of a prosecutor to prove an essential element of an offense charged in an indictment is a fatal insufficiency of proof requiring reversal upon review.
- 3. A criminal defendant is required to elicit only a reasonable doubt as to any element of an offense in order to disprove the prosecution's case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO ADMISSIBILITY OF THE VIDEOTAPE

Over objection overruled (T-55) the Court allowed into evidence a purported videotape of part of the purported drug transaction for which Appellant was convicted. No evidence of the method by which the recording was produced or converted to videotape was introduced into evidence. It was introduced by a confidential informant whose participation was obtained by a promise of leniency or dismissal in pending check forgery charges if Appellant was convicted (T-58, 59) or if the informant produced a successful drug case against Appellant.

The videotape was produced from and was a composite of two separate video recordings of the purported drug transaction, one on the person of Gina Lewis, the informant, and one on her vehicle (T-49, 50). What was shown the jury was a small and allegedly relevant portion of the composite.

Although duplicates may be admitted (MRE 1003), this was apparently a duplicate of the composite, not of a particular original video recording. The prosecution did not identify, specify or produce evidence showing which parts of the finished product shown the jury came from which separate original video recording. Thus the videotape should have been excluded per MRE 1002.

The verdict should be overturned.

THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The principal witness against Appellant was Gina Lewis, described as a "confidential informant" by Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics agent, Will Peterson (T-35). Ms. Lewis testified that when Appellant was sitting in his car with the door open and his dog, Sunflower in his lap, she walked up to the vehicle to consummate a previously agreed transaction for her to buy cocaine from him for \$40.00 (T-58). She testified the drug was in his lap on his left leg:

- Q. Where was the dog sitting?
- A. In his lap.
- Q. So he put the cocaine in the same lap that the dog was sitting in?
- A. Uh-huh, that's correct.

She testified that she gave Appellant the money at the same time she picked up the cocaine. She further testified (T-58-59):

- Q. What - you were in trouble with the Morton Police Department for uttering forgery on some bad checks, were you not?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. You had taken somebody else's checks and put your name on them and passed em -
- A. That's correct.
- Q. Received the money, right? And your comeback, I guess, well, for lack of a better word, what you were to receive in exchange for working as a confidential informant was a good recommendation from the police regarding these charges, right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And that your're not - ideally, you're not going to be indicted, as long as you produce for them, right?
- A. Ideally.

- Q. Well, producing for them doesn't mean you go out and come back with nothing, right? You have to come back -- you have to come back with something. You have to come back with something. You have to have something they can use against individuals, right?
- A. That would make sense.

She testified that she had a hidden video camera on her person and on the vehicle she was driving and (T-55):

- Q. Does that video tape accurately and correctly show the transaction as it took place?
- A. Yes, it does.

The two video recordings were apparently combined, introduced into evidence and shown to the jury.

The video did not in fact show the transfer of the contraband or the money (T-85, 83) or the presence of the contraband on Appellant's leg, on Appellant's person or in his vehicle.

The tale told by Gina Lewis is unlikely because (1) the apparent danger of loss of cocaine sharing a lap with a dog would have kept the Appellant from putting the drugs on his leg or in his lap; (2) had Gina Lewis been unable to purchase the cocaine from Appellant there was an increased likelihood that she would face several forgery charges and consequent imprisonment, and thus she had a pressing need to succeed in her effort to consummate or create a drug purchase and thus a motive to manufacture or falsify one; (3) the fact that no contraband was seen on Appellant's person on the videotape was evidence that the cocaine came from a different source.

An accused is presumed innocent and must be proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt for a conviction to withstand review. Miller v. State, 22 So. 2d, 164 (Miss. 1945). To succeed on appeal a criminal Appellant must elicit only a reasonable doubt as to any element of an offense. Jones v. State, 798 So. 2d 1241 (Miss. 2001); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068 (1970).

The three reasons given above that Gina Lewis' story is unlikely combine to provide reasonable doubt of Appellant's guilt. Reasonable persons (jurors) could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant was guilty.

Gina Lewis' testimony is the only evidence that Appellant sold her the drugs. As a check forger she was innately dishonest. She had a compelling motive to create, falsify and give evidence supporting a contraband drug transfer case against Appellant.

The verdict should be overturned.

III.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT, REQUEST FOR A PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION AND MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

In Peterson v. State, 671 So. 2d 647, 653 (Miss. 1996), quoting with approval from Love v. State, 211 Miss. 606, 611, 52 So. 2d 470, 472 (Miss. 1951), held as follows:

it is fundamental that an indictment, to be effective as such, must set forth the constituent elements of a criminal offense; if the facts alleged do not constitute such an offense within the terms and meaning of the law or laws on which the accusation is based, or if the facts allege may all be true and yet constitute no offense,

ingredient of the offense every essential element of the offense
must be alleged with precision and certainty, or, as has been stated, every fact which is an element in a prima facie case of guilt must be stated in the indictment. See ibid, secs. 51-63, 79; 42
C.J.S., Indictments and Informations, Sections 130-137-138.

(Emphasis added). Love v. State, 211 Miss. at 611, 52 So.2d.
at 472. This court has yet to stray away from these fundamental requirements for the sufficiency of an indictment.

The indictment in the case before the Court reads as follows:

Did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly sell and deliver to Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics Confidential Informant #96-2006, a Schedule II controlled substance, namely cocaine, in Scott County, Mississippi, contrary to and in violation of Section 41-29-139(a)(1), Miss. Code Ann. (1972), and he, the said Keehan Andre Hoye a/k/a Kenny Hoye, then and there having been convicted once previously of the felony crime of Sale of Cocaine, an offense under Section 41-29-139(a)(1), Miss. Code Ann., (1972), the Mississippi Uniform Controlled Substances Law, said previous conviction having occurred on the 15th day of October, 2001, in Cause No. 01-CR-0085-SC in the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi, and from said conviction Keehan Andre Hove a/k/a Kenya Hove a/k/a Kenny Hove was sentenced to serve a term of seven (7) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections; he, the said Keehan Andre Hoye a/k/a Kenya Hoye a/k/a Kenny Hove, therefore being a second offender pursuant to Section 41-29-147, Miss. Code Ann. (1972).

The evidence presented was that Appellant sold contraband drugs to Gina Lewis and that Gina Lewis was a confidential informant. No evidence was introduced that Appellant sold such contraband to Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics Confidential Informant # 096-2006 or that Gina Lewis was Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics Confidential Information # 096-2006.

In In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068 (1970) the United States Supreme Court held that:

The Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.

Thus the State has the obligation to prove every material element of the charge and in Mississippi that charge is encompassed in the indictment. The identity of victims or other persons, not the accused, but integral to the charge, must be proved <u>as alleged in the indictment</u>. McBeth v. State, 50 Miss. 81 (1874); Reed v. State, 506 So. 2d 277 (Miss. 1987). There having been no evidence in the trial of the case before the Court that Appellant sold or transferred contraband narcotics to Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics Confidential Informant 096-2006, the <u>proof</u> was deficient in a material particular and the verdict should be overturned.

Admittedly there is a need to protect the identity of genuinely confidential informants in order that they not be subject to violent harmful retribution, but, where, as in the case before the Court, the "confidential informant" testifies in open court, and is then identified by name, the pretrial confidentiality does not contribute to the physical

safety of the informant. In the case before the Court there is no overriding excuse for failure to prove the identity of the purchaser of drugs alleged in the indictment. The proof did not identify the purchaser of the contraband as the purchaser named in the indictment.

The verdict should be overturned.

CONCLUSION

The verdict should be overturned.