KEEHAN ANDRE HOYE

FILED

APPELLANT

JUN 1 3 2008

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2007-KA-1985-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

, 39 graw

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. This issue was waived for failure to raise it on the same grounds as objected to in the trial court. R. 55; C.P. 22. **Haddox v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994). The record reflects there was no objection to the admissibility of the video tape based upon M. R.E. Rule 1001 and 10002, which deals with original and duplicates for recordings.

The objection at trial was on general grounds. It was an objection to the informant identifying the video tape unless she handled it, took it our and reported it. R. 55. Nor was this Rule 1001 issue raised in Hoye's Motion For A New Trial. C.P. 22.

An objection on one ground waives all others. An objection can not be expanded upon on appeal. Burns v. State, 729 So. 2d 203, 219 (Miss 1998).

In addition, the record reflects that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the video tape into evidence. There was corroborated testimony from Officer Peterson and Ms. Gina Lewis that the video accurately depicted the alleged cocaine sale at issue.

The video was shown to the jury. R. 56. Both Officer Peterson and Gina Lewis were cross examined about the video tape. Hoye argued in closing about what the video tape did not show, viz. the actual hand to hand exchange of drugs for money. R. 80-81. Hoye should not be heard to complain about issues he raised with the jury.

2. The record reflects credible, substantial partially corroborated evidence in support of the trial court's denial of all peremptory instructions. When the testimony was taken as true with reasonable inferences, there was more than sufficient credible evidence in support of Hoye's conviction. **Noe** v. State, 616 So. 2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1993).

The issue of the relationship between MBN informant #096-2006 as stated in the indictment and Gina Lewis, who testified as being the informant used in the instant cause, was waived for

failure to raise it with the trial court. Haddox, supra.

The record reflects that Hoye did not object to jury instruction S-1, which included in the elements the selling of cocaine by Hoye to "Gina Lewis." R. 71-72; C.P. 14. The failure to object to an instruction waives the issue on appeal. **Davis v. State**, 568 So. 2d 277, 279 (Miss. 1990).

In addition, there is a presumption that the trial court's rulings are correct. Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987). A trial court can not be faulted for an issue never raised before it. Wilcher v. State, 479 So. 2d 710, 712 (Miss. 1985). It is also reasonable to infer from the record that Ms. Gina Lewis and MBN informant 096-2006 were one and the same. Both Agent Peterson and Gina Lewis specifically testified that Lewis was the informant used in the instant cause. R. 35-45; 47-60. There was no testimony or evidence as to any other informant having been used in the instant cause. There was no evidence or testimony presented by Hoye to the judge or the jury to the contrary.

Hoye was identified as the person who sold apparent cocaine for \$40.00 at the Waggoner Road Trailer Park in Morton. R. 56-57. Lewis also identified exhibit 1 as to alleged cocaine she purchased from Hoye. R. 53-54.

The record reflects that Hoye and his red Ford Explorer could be seen on the video tape along with what appeared to be a small object wrapped in plastic. R. 51.. Ms. Jamie Johnson with the Crime Laboratory identified exhibit 1 as being cocaine base, .39 grams. R. 66.

The testimony of Ms Gina Lewis was therefore partially corroborated. The fact that a hand to hand exchange of \$40.00 for cocaine could not be seen but could be inferred from other evidence does not indicate any defect in the proof. See **Doby v. State**, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988). The uncorroborated testimony of one eye witness is sufficient for supporting a conviction.

3. The evidence summarized above was sufficient for denying a motion for a new trial. There was

no "injustice" involved in denying that motion. Since Hoye chose not to testify, he did not present an alternative theory of the case. The theory of the case presented on appeal was based upon denigration of informant Lewis' integrity, and upon emphasizing what the evidence and testimony did not show.

However, as previously stated, Hoye is not entitled to give himself the benefit of gaps in the evidence and favorable inferences from them consistent with his innocence. Rather the appeal court "must consider all the evidence, not just that supporting the case for the prosecution, in the light most consistent with the verdict." **Jackson v. State**, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991).

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. IT IS ALSO LACKING IN MERIT.

Mr. Hoye believes that a videotape of an alleged cocaine sale was improperly admitted into evidence against him. Mr. Hoye believes that this videotape was admitted even thought it was supposedly a composite of two separate video recordings. Hoye also believes there was insufficient evidence for establishing the relationship between the original video tape(s) made in the field and the duplicate which was shown to the jury during the trial. Appellant's brief page 2-8.

The record reflects that the objection at trial was that the informant, Ms. Gina Lewis, was not qualified to identify the video tape. She was not qualified because she did "handle it and took it out and reported all that stuff." R. 55. There was no objection on grounds of confusion about what was an original as opposed to a duplicate video tape recording under M. R.E. 1001-1002. Nor was this issue raised in Hoye's motion for a new trial. C.P. 22.

In **Haddox v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994), the Court stated:

Because these arguments are not preserved for appeal, this Court cannot reverse based upon them. The assertion on appeal of grounds for an objection which was not the assertion at trial is not an issue properly preserved on appeal. **Baine v. State**, 606 So. 2d 1076 (Miss. 1992); **Willie v. State**, 585 So. 2d 660, 671 (Miss. 1991); **Crawford v. State**, 515 So. 2d 936,938(Miss. 1987);...

Without conceding that this issue was waived, the merits will also be addressed.

Confidential informant Ms. Gina Lewis identified Hoye as the person who gave her \$40.00 worth of what looked like cocaine. R. 49. This was on December 8, 2006. The sale took place at the Waggoner Road Trailer Park in Morton, Mississippi. She also testified that she had reviewed the video tape of the transaction in which she participated. She testified that the video did "accurately and correctly show" the alleged cocaine sale as it took place in her presence. She

testified that she had done nothing to alter or change anything depicted on the tape.

- O. What is that?
- A. This is the tape of the transaction.
- Q. Have you had an opportunity to review and look at the contents of that VCR tape?
- A. Yes, I have.
- Q. And could you tell us is that a video recording of the transaction that took place between yourself and the defendant on December 8, 2006?
- A. Yes, it is.
- Q. And that is the transaction that took place at Waggoner Road Road Trailer Park in Morton?
- A. Yes, it is.
- Q. Does that video tape accurately and correctly show the transaction as it took place?
- A. Yes, it does.
- Q. Did you do, or anybody do anything to that VCR tape to alter or change it in any way?
- A. No, sir.

Thames: Your Honor, at this time I'd like to ask that this, what's been marked for identification only, No 2 to the State's case, be marked as an exhibit.

Court: Any objection.

Harris: Your Honor, I'd like to—I want to object at this point in time, Your Honor. Unless she's the one that handled it and took it out and reported all that stuff, I don't know how she can identify that particular tape.

Court: Let me ask—approach the bench just a minute. (Off record)

Thames: Again I renew my request to the Court to allow what's been marked for identification number 2 to the state's case to now be marked as an exhibit.

Court: The objection is noted. The Court had a bench conference which is not on record, but the objection is overruled. Let it be marked. (Emphasis by Appellee).

(Exhibit 2 marked and admitted into evidence). R. 54-55.

Agent Will Peterson with the MBN testified that the video tape that he brought to the court room had been downloaded from the tape originally made at the Waggoner Road Trailer Park. R. 39. The record reflects that Peterson testified that he reviewed the video tape made of the alleged cocaine purchase. This was just prior to trial. Peterson found the video tape to be "a true and accurate depiction of the tape" that was made on December 8, 2006 and downloaded on December 12, 2006. R. 39.

Peterson also testified that he monitored the alleged cocaine sale by listening to an audio tape that was operating at that time. R. 45.

Q. And was it a true and accurate depiction of the tape that you made that day?

A. It is. (Emphasis by Appellee).

In **Burns v. State**, 729 So. 2d 203, 219 (Miss 1998), this court stated that an appellant can not be "enlarged" on appeal to encompass an omission not complained of at trial..

In Conner, this Court held that an objection on one or more specific grounds constitutes a waiver of all other grounds. Id. at 1255 (citing Stringer v. State, 279 So. 2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973). See also Brown v. State, 682 So. 2d 340, 350 (Miss 1996), It has long been the finding of this Court that "an objection at trial cannot be enlarged in a reviewing court to embrace an omission not complained of at trial." Brown, 682 at 350 (citing McGarrh v. State, 249 Miss. 247, 148 So. 2d 494, 506 (1963). This claim is procedurally barred. Objection on one or more specific grounds at trial constitutes a waiver of all other grounds for objection on appeal. Burns v. State, 728 So.2d 203 (Miss. 1998)

In addition to being waived, the Appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

In Gilley v. State, 748 So. 2d 123, 126 (Miss. 1999), the Court stated the admission of evidence was within the trial court's "discretion." Unless the trial court abused its discretion that resulted in prejudice to a defendant, its decision would be affirmed.

This Court has held that 'a trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the Court will not reverse this ruling.' **Turner v. State**, 732 So. 2d 937, 946 (Miss. 1999)(quoting **Fisher v. State**, 690 So. 2d 268, 274 (Miss. 1996). Similarly, the decision that an error is irreversible and a mistrial should be granted is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. **Snelson v. State**, 704 So. 2d 452, 456 (Miss. 1997).

The record reflects that Hoye cross examined both Ms. Gina Lewis, and Mr. Will Peterson about the video tape evidence that was shown to the jury . R. 41-45; 57-60. Hoye questioned them thoroughly about Ms. Lewis' involvement in the alleged cocaine sale.

Agent Peterson testified that Ms. Lewis had not been promised anything in exchange for her testimony. R. 46.

Q. Was Gina Lewis promised anything if she cooperated with you?

A. No, sir. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Lewis testified that she had not been requested to lie. She had been requested to merely tell the truth about what occurred during the cocaine sale at Waggoner Road Trailer Park. R. 60.

Hoye's counsel argued before the jury in closing that what the video "did not show." R. 80-84. While he admitted that Hoye was seen in his red truck on the video, he argued that he was not actually seen conducting the transaction as described by Gina Lewis. It did not actually show the hand to hand transaction of \$40.00 for cocaine. R. 80-81.

He also argued that the transaction could not have occurred because a dog and the cocaine were supposedly both in Hoye's lap at the same time. R. 83. He also castigated the integrity of the

informant because she had something to gain by her testimony. R. 82.

Remember I talked to you in voir dire this morning. I asked you to look at the video when they showed the video, because I knew they were going to show the video. I asked you to look at the video and asked you to not only look for what it does show, look for what it does not show. R. 80-81

The Appellee would submit that Hoye's counsel stated during voir dire and argued in closing about what the video tape did not show. R. 25; 80-81. This was a major tenet of his defense.

Consequently, his argument on appeal for the first time about there being confusion about what was the original and what was the duplicate of the video tape recording made at the scene of the alleged crime is wide of the mark. Hoye's defense tactic was to take full advantage of what was not shown rather than to complain about the techniques used to produce the video images the jury viewed along with all the testimony and exhibits.

In **Fleming v. State**, 604 So. 2d 280, 289 (Miss. 1992), the Court stated a defendant should not be allowed to complain about evidence he brought out at trial.

It is axiomatic that a defendant cannot complain on appeal concerning evidence that he himself brought out at trial. See **Singleton v. State**, 518 So. 2d 653, 655 (Miss. 1988)... As the Court stated pithily in **Reddix v State**, 381 So. 2d 999, 1009 (Miss.), cert denied, 499 U S 986, 101 S Ct 408, 66 L Ed 2d 251 (1980): 'If the defendant goes fishing in the state's waters, he must take such fish as he catches.'

The Appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II & III.

THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE VERDICT AND THE DENIAL OF ALL PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTIONS BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Hoye believes that there was insufficient evidence in support of the jury's verdict. He thinks that the only evidence against him came from the informant, Ms. Gina Lewis. Since Lewis was facing separate pending criminal charges that could result in her imprisonment, he believes she had a motive to be less than truthful. Therefore, Hoye believes her testimony was not credible. He also thinks that Lewis' testimony about the cocaine being in his lap along with a dog casts doubt upon her credibility about how the transfer of cocaine occurred. Appellant's brief page 3-5.

On motions for a directed verdict, Hoye, like other appellants, is not entitled to give himself the benefit of conflicts or gaps in the evidence. Rather it is the appellee who is entitled to have the evidence taken as true with reasonable inferences on such a motion.

In **Noe v. State**, 616 So. 2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1993), this Court stated that when the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged that the evidence favorable to the State must be accepted as true with all reasonable inferences. Evidence favorable to the defense must be disregarded.

In judging the sufficiency of the evidence on a motion for a directed verdict, or request for peremptory instruction, the trial judge is required to accept as true all of the evidence that is favorable to the state, including all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, and to disregard evidence favorable to the defendant. Clemons v. State, 460 So. 2d 835 (Miss. 1984).

The record reflects that agent Will Peterson with the Mississippi Bureau Narcotics testified that while he did not see what occurred during the alleged cocaine purchase, he listened to the conversation occurring at that time. R. 45. Agent Peterson also testified that Gina Lewis had not been promised anything in exchange for her testimony. R. 46.

In addition, Gina Lewis testified that she had not been promised anything in exchange for her testimony. She testified that the prosecution had not requested that she do anything other than tell the truth about what occurred during the alleged cocaine sale. R. 60. Lewis testified that she and her car were searched prior to the transaction to prevent any substitution of evidence. R. 47-48. She was traveling alone. There was no one else in the car with her. She also testified that after the transaction, she did not stop or meet with anyone else. R. 52-53. She left the alleged cocaine, State's exhibit 1 with agent Peterson, as she had been directed to do prior to the transaction.

Lewis testified that after Hoye pulled the wrapped cocaine out of his jacket pocket, he placed it on his left leg. His truck's door was open. While Sunflower, a dog, was mentioned as also being on Hoye's lap, there were no questions from Hoye about how having a dog of indeterminate size along with a small piece of cocaine on your lap somehow made the drug transaction improbable or impossible. R. 57-60. Therefore, Hoye is not entitled to any inferences from evidence never brought before the jury. R. 57-60; C.P. 22.

Ms. Gina Lewis testified that she contacted a person she knew as "Keno." R. 49. After arranging a time and place for an alleged cocaine purchase, she was told to meet him at the Waggoner Road Trailer Park. Lewis identified Hoye in the court room as the person from whom she purchased \$40.00 worth of cocaine. R. 49.

- Q. And who did you call in regard to trying to make a purchase of cocaine?
- A. A person I knew by the name of Keno.
- Q. Now, the person that you know as Keno, are you able to identify that person today?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Can you make identification of him by pointing to that person?

A. Yes, sir, he's sitting right there.

Thames: Your Honor, I'd like the record to reflect that the witness has pointed to the defendant seated at the counsel table.

Court: The record will so reflect. (Emphasis by Appellee)

Lewis also identified State's Exhibit 1 as being the alleged crack cocaine she purchased at the Waggoner Road Trailer Park. R. 54.

This drug transaction occurred on December 8, 2006 at the Waggoner Road Trailer Park in Morton, Scott County. Lewis testified that she and her car were searched prior to the purchase. R. 47-48. She and her car had a video camera and an audio recorder operating at the time of the alleged sale. Agent Peterson testified without objection that he had reviewed the video of the transaction prior to trial and found it to be an accurate depiction, without alteration, of what occurred during the sale, based upon his listening to the transaction. R. 39. Gina Lewis testified that she reviewed the video tape. It "accurately and correctly show(ed) the transaction as it took place. R. 55.

Ms. Gina Lewis testified that she gave Hoye the \$40.00 and received the cocaine which was wrapped in cellophane. R. 52. She took the alleged cocaine, exhibit 1, and surrendered it agent Peterson with the Bureau of Narcotics. R. 52. She did not stop and make any contact with any other person who could have been the source of the cocaine. R. 53.

Ms. Jamie Johnson, a forensic analysts, testified that exhibit 1 was determined to be crack cocaine by using several scientific tests. It weighed .39 grams. R. 66.

Q. Can you tell us what your tests revealed that substance to be and how much of it?

A. Based on the results of both examinations, I was able to determine that the substance contained in State's Exhibit 1 for ID only, is cocaine based, which is also known as crack cocaine, with a weight of .39 grams. R. 66. (Emphasis by Appellee).

The issue of the relationship between informant #096-2006 as stated in the indictment and

Gina Lewis, who testified as being the informant used in the instant cause, was waived for failure to ever raise it with the trial court. C.P. 22. **Haddox**, **supra**. The record reflects that Hoye did not object to jury instruction S-1, which included in the elements the selling of cocaine by Hoye to "Gina Lewis." R. 71-72; C.P. 14. The failure to object to an instruction waives the issue on appeal. **Davis v. State**, 568 So. 2d 277, 279 (Miss. 1990)

In addition, there is a presumption that the trial court's rulings are correct. Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987). A trial court can not be faulted for an issue never raised. Wilcher v. State, 479 So. 2d 710, 712 (Miss. 1985).

It is also reasonable to infer from the record that Gina Lewis and informant 096-2006 were one and the same. The indictment did not just mention 096-2006 in the abstract, it mentioned 096-2006 as "the MBN informant 096-2006" who purchased cocaine from Hoye in Scott County on December 8, 2006.

Both Agent Peterson with the MBN and Gina Lewis testified that Lewis was the informant used by the MBN in the instant cause. R. 35-45; 47-60. Lewis specifically testified that she worked on December 8, 2006 with the MBN to set up an alleged cocaine purchase from Hoye. R. 47. Neither she nor Agent Peterson testified that any other informant besides Lewis was used in the purchase from Hoye on December 8, 2006. It is therefore reasonable to infer that 096-2006 was one and the same as informant Ms. Gina Lewis. There was no evidence or testimony from the defense to the contrary.

In **Reed v. State**, 506 So. 2d 277 (Miss 1987), relied upon by Hoye, the Court found that amending an indictment to eliminate one of three alleged armed robbery victims was improper where there was no evidence for doing so. However, the court affirmed the conviction for the crimes

against the other two victims named in the indictment. In **Reed** there was never any issue about the identity of any of the victims based upon the indictment as is being raised for the first time in the instant cause.

The Appellee would submit that based upon the testimony summarized above, there was sufficient evidence for establishing all the elements of sale of cocaine as stated in jury instruction S-1, C.P. 14.

In **Jones v. State**, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that a motion challenging the weight of the evidence was in the trial court's discretion. However, it should be denied except to prevent "an unconscionable injustice."

Our scope of review is well established regarding challenges to the weight of the evidence issue. Procedurally, such challenges contend that defendant's motion for new trial should have been granted. Miss. Unif. Crim. R. of Cir. Ct. Prac. 5.16. The decision to grant a new trial rests in the sound discretion of the trial court, and the motion should not be granted except to prevent "an unconscionable injustice." Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 812 (Miss. 1987). We must consider all the evidence, not just that supporting the case for the prosecution, in the light most consistent with the verdict." Jackson v. State, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991), and then reverse only on the basis of abuse of discretion.

The testimony and evidence presented to the jury were sufficient, credible, partially corroborated evidence for denying a motion for a new trial. The trial court's order denying relief was fully supported by the evidence. C.P. 24.

In **Doby v. State**, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988), the Court stated that the Supreme Court recognizes that the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness was sufficient to support a conviction.

With this reasoning in mind, the Court holds that the testimony of Conner was legally sufficient to support Doby's conviction for the sale of cocaine. This Court recognizes the rule that persons may be found guilty on the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness. See **Ragland v. State**, 403 So. 2d 146 (Miss. 1981);...

In the instant cause, the informant was partially corroborated by the video tape. Hoye was seen on the video tape in his red Ford Explorer at the time and place of an alleged drug transaction.

R. 57; 83. Lewis identified exhibit 1 as being the cocaine she alleged purchased from Hoye. R. 54.

The alleged cocaine shown in the video was recovered and identified by scientific test as being cocaine. R. 66.

Lewis testified that the she traveled to the transaction alone in her car after she and the car were searched for contraband. She did not come in contact with anyone else with whom she could have acquired some other contraband. R. 47-60.

Therefore, the record reflects that Ms. Gina Lewis was partially corroborated as to the elements of the sale of cocaine charge. And there was a lack of evidence that any alleged substitution of cocaine could have occurred under the facts of this case. R. 47-60.

The Appellee would submit that these other issues dealing with the sufficiency and weight of the evidence are therefore also lacking in merit.

CONCLUSION

Hoye's conviction should be affirmed for the reasons cited in this brief.